brought to you by CORE

DIABETES RESEARCH AND CLINICAL PRACTICE 166 (2020) 108337



The role of genetic factors and monocyteto-osteoclast differentiation in the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy



Anna Kloska^a, Anna Korzon-Burakowska^b, Marcelina Malinowska^a, Bożena Bruhn-Olszewska^c, Magdalena Gabig-Cimińska^{a,d}, Joanna Jakóbkiewicz-Banecka^{a,*}

^a University of Gdańsk, Faculty of Biology, Department of Medical Biology and Genetics, Wita Stwosza 59, 80-308 Gdańsk, Poland ^b Medical University of Gdańsk, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hypertension and Diabetology, Deôbinki 7, 80-211 Gdańsk, Poland ^c University of Gdańsk, Faculty of Biology, Department of Bacterial Molecular Genetics, Wita Stwosza 59, 80-308 Gdańsk, Poland ^d Institute of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Polish Academy of Sciences, Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Kładki 24, 80-822 Gdańsk, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 November 2019 Received in revised form 7 May 2020 Accepted 16 July 2020 Available online 21 July 2020

Keywords: Charcot foot Charcot neuroarthropathy RANKL OPG Osteoclast differentiation

ABSTRACT

Charcot neuroarthropathy is a chronic, progressive condition of the skeletal system that affects some patients with diabetic neuropathy. It results in progressive destruction of bones of the foot and disorganisation of pedal joints and ligaments. Effective prevention and treatment for Charcot neuroarthropathy remain a challenge. Currently, there are no reliable repeatable markers to identify patients with diabetes who are at higher risk of developing Charcot neuroarthropathy. The pathogenesis underlying the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy also remains unclear. In this review, we provide an overview of the history, prevalence, symptoms, risk factors, diagnostics and treatment of Charcot neuroarthropathy. We also discuss the potential for OPG and RANKL gene variants to act as predictive markers for the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Finally, we summarise the latest research on the role of monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation in the development of acute Charcot neuroarthropathy.

© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1	Introduction	00			
	History				
3.	Prevalence, symptoms and risk factors	00			
4.	Diagnostics				
5.	Treatment	00			
6.	Pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy0				
	6.1. Role of the OPG-RANKL-RANK axis in bone resorption and formation	00			
	6.2. Association of OPG and RANKL variants with Charcot neuroarthropathy	00			

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: joanna.jakobkiewicz-banecka@biol.ug.edu.pl (J. Jakóbkiewicz-Banecka).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108337

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

^{0168-8227/© 2020} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V.

	6.3. Serum OPG and RANKL levels in Charcot neuroarthropathy	00
	6.4. Monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation in acute Charcot neuroarthropathy	00
7.	Concluding remarks	00
	Funding	00
	Declaration of Competing Interest.	00
	References	00

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most common disorders in the modern world, and its prevalence has reached epidemic proportions [1]. Long-term and uncontrolled hyperglycaemia leads to a number of severe consequences. The most common complication of diabetes is neuropathy which, according to some sources, affects up to 60% of patients with diabetes [2,3]. Neuropathy most often manifests as diabetic foot syndrome with hard-healing ulcers. Some patients with symmetrical distal neuropathy develop a chronic, and progressive condition called Charcot neuroarthropathy (CN), also known as diabetic neuropathic osteoarthropathy (DNOAP), Charcot foot or Charcot joint disease. It results in the progressive destruction of bones of the foot and soft tissues at weightbearing joints; in its most severe form, it may cause significant disruption of the bone architecture [4,5]. The degree of bone destruction, subluxation, dislocation, and deformity varies in the clinical picture of Charcot neuroarthropathy; neuropathy, trauma, and disturbances in bone metabolism underlie this complication [4–7]. In Charcot neuroarthropathy, the acute (or active) and chronic (or inactive) phases are distinguished to describe the inflamed or the stable phase in the clinical course of this condition, respectively [8].

Although the number of reports on genetic studies on Charcot neuroarthropathy and treatment guidelines have increased in recent years, the exact molecular mechanism of the disease remains unclear. Moreover, there are no effective therapies to prevent or inhibit its development. Here, we provide a comprehensive overview of the history, prevalence, symptoms, risk factors, diagnostics and treatment of Charcot neuroarthropathy. We also discuss the association of OPG and RANKL variants with Charcot neuroarthropathy. Finally, we summarise the latest research on the role of monocyte-toosteoclast differentiation in the development of acute Charcot neuroarthropathy.

2. History

In 1703, William Musgrave first described a neuropathic joint as an arthralgia caused by venereal disease [9]. The association between nerve injury of different origins and arthropathy was first mentioned in the nineteenth century by John Kearsley Mitchell [10], and the idea was further developed by the French neurologist Jean-Marie Charcot [11]. The condition was first described in association with venereal disease and tabes dorsalis. Syphilis was believed to be the most common cause of Charcot arthropathy until 1936, when William Jordan first noted its relationship with diabetes [12]. Nowadays, Charcot neuroarthropathy is predominantly observed in patients with diabetes during the course of diabetic neuropathy [8].

3. Prevalence, symptoms and risk factors

The reported incidence of Charcot neuroarthropathy in the general population of patients with diabetes is around 0.16% [13], and may be even higher in subjects with diabetic neuropathy, where it may reach up to 29%. The prevalence is reported to vary from 0.08% in the general population of patients with diabetes to 13% in high-risk patients with diabetes and peripheral neuropathy [14,15]. It is usually unilateral, but according to some sources it can affect both feet in up to 75% of cases [16]. Mortality in patients with this complication is high, exceeding the mortality of some cancers such as prostate or breast cancer [17].

The acute Charcot neuroarthropathy manifests as a triad of symptoms: unilateral oedema, redness, and a local increase in temperature. In some cases, slight pain is present. The clinical picture resembles other aetiologies of swelling of the foot, such as cellulitis, sprains or deep vein thrombosis; therefore, the diagnosis is often difficult and delayed [4,7,8]. Chronic Charcot neuroarthropathy is easily recognizable with the rocker-bottom appearance of the foot, resulting from irreversible deformation due to metatarsal collapse or joint destruction [4,7,8]. These deformities predispose to skin ulceration, an established risk factor for amputation [4].

The risk factors for the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy are not well understood. According to some authors, the highest incidence of this complication is observed in patients between 60 and 70 years of age with a diabetes duration of more than 10 years [18]. However, Petrova and colleagues observed a higher incidence of Charcot neuroarthropathy in patients with diabetes who were aged in their 40 s and 50 s [19]. Type 1 and type 2 diabetes differ with regard to diabetes duration and Charcot neuroarthropathy risk. When compared to patients with type 2 diabetes, patients with type 1 diabetes and Charcot neuroarthropathy tend to be younger, and these patients have generally had diabetes for a longer time [19]. The risk factor that is most strongly correlated with Charcot neuroarthropathy is social isolation. Nobrega and colleagues suggest that acute Charcot neuroarthropathy primarily affects patients aged under 55 years who live alone, are literate, and have a prior history of ulcers [20]. Peripheral arterial disease is a protective factor [20]. Contradictory results have been obtained regarding body mass index (BMI); some studies report that obesity is associated with an increased incidence of Charcot neuroarthropathy [21,22], while according to others, no association has been observed [20,23]. It is not clear whether low bone mineral density (BMD) is a risk factor for the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy; the calcaneal BMD of patients with diabetes and Charcot neuroarthropathy is lower compared to healthy controls, but is similar between patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy and patients with diabetes alone [24]. A higher incidence and poorer outcome of this complication is observed in patients with diabetes and concurrent renal disease [25]. Impaired renal function, haemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, and kidney or simultaneous kidney/pancreas transplantation correlate with the incidence and progression of Charcot neuroarthropathy [25–27].

4. Diagnostics

In the acute stage, Charcot neuroarthropathy is diagnosed mainly on clinical grounds, supported by diagnostic imaging. Plain foot radiographs are recommended as the initial diagnostic method [3]. Radiographs allow for an overall assessment of anatomy and the detection of bone destruction, dislocations and deformity of the foot, all findings that are typical of advanced Charcot neuroarthropathy [28]. Unfortunately, plain X-ray films have low sensitivity for diagnosing subtle, initial abnormalities within the skeletal system, as X-rays in the very early stages of Charcot neuroarthropathy may appear normal. In the earliest stage of Charcot neuroarthropathy, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or nuclear medicine studies following initial X-rays are recommended to confirm the acute bone pathology. MRI is a highly sensitive imaging method that, in cases of acute Charcot neuroarthropathy, allows the detection of signs of bone marrow and soft tissue oedema, stress fractures without cortical disruption and joint effusion [28]. Radionuclide imaging with labelled white cells may help to differentiate Charcot neuroarthropathy from osteomyelitis with a specificity of 80% and sensitivity of about 80% [29]. Positron emission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) may prove to be a valuable method for diagnosing Charcot neuroarthropathy; however, due to its high cost and limited availability, it is not widely applied. In the chronic stage of Charcot neuroarthropathy, plain radiographs show dislocation or subluxation, deformity, destruction, disorganisation, debris and increased subchondral bone mineral density, known as the rule of "six Ds" [30]. At this stage, an intervention that would prevent gross deformity of the foot is not usually possible.

At present, there are no reliable markers that could confirm the diagnosis of Charcot neuroarthropathy in its acute phase. In addition, it is not possible to determine which patients affected by neuropathy are at greater risk of developing this complication. It also remains unclear why this process is unilateral and self-limiting in the majority of cases. Due to the lack of typical laboratory and radiological characteristics, acute Charcot neuroarthropathy is misdiagnosed and mistreated in up to 25% of cases [31]. Diagnostic errors resulting in improper or delayed treatment can lead to profound deformity, an increased risk of ulceration or lowerlimb amputation. Acute Charcot neuroarthropathy is commonly misdiagnosed as bacterial inflammation and phlegmon of the foot, which is referred for surgical intervention [4]. Advanced cases with bone destruction evident on X-rays are difficult to distinguish from osteomyelitis, especially if a foot ulcer is present [32,33]. A careful patient history and examination may aid in the diagnosis of acute Charcot neuroarthropathy [32]. A history of minor trauma, lack of previous (or present) ulcer, and a reduction of erythema upon elevation of the leg are all characteristic features of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Patients also display very dense neuropathy and, in most cases, there is no foot ischemia [32]. Measurement of uric acid levels and a negative venous Doppler exam may help to exclude gout and deep vein thrombosis. Levels of procalcitonin (PCT) and C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and leukocyte count are usually normal [34].

5. Treatment

In the very early stage, Charcot neuroarthropathy is usually treated with custom footwear, a cast shoe containing a custom-made insole, or orthoses to protect the foot and ankle [32]. Using this footwear effectively reduces swelling and protects the bones of the foot at risk from developing Charcot neuroarthropathy. The gold standard of treatment of the acute Charcot neuroarthropathy is non-weight bearing or a reduction in weight-bearing and immobilisation of the affected foot, preferably in a total contact cast [35]. Application of this treatment modality requires expertise. Protective padding should be applied between the toes, with additional padding over bony prominences. The cast should be removed regularly to assess possible wounds caused by friction while the oedema resolves. The length of necessary immobilisation varies between individuals, with one study reporting a mean duration of casting as long as 18.5 ± 10.6 weeks [36]. A prolonged period of casting may result in overloading of the contralateral foot, muscle wasting, a further reduction in bone mineral density and increased body mass index. Offloading should continue until the patient has entered the healing phase, clinically defined as a reduction in oedema and a temperature difference between the affected and contralateral foot of less than 2 °C [33,35]. The transition to weightbearing and regular activity of the patient must be gradual, preferably supported by a physiotherapist; beginning strenuous exercise too soon after removal of the total contact cast may result in the recurrence of acute Charcot neuroarthropathy. For long-term management of patients after weaning out of the total contact cast, custom footwear or total contact insoles are recommended to ensure that the foot is accommodated and protected [32,37].

Surgical treatment of Charcot neuroarthropathy is recommended for those patients who have severe ankle and foot deformities that are unstable and at a high risk of developing a foot ulcer [7]. If the deformity makes braces and orthotics difficult to use, surgery may also be indicated. The clinical outcome of a patient after surgical correction often results in improved quality of life [38], but it may also be associated with a high complication rate [39]. Pharmacological treatments for Charcot neuroarthropathy are under study as an additional option to classical treatments. These treatments include the administration of antiresorptive agents (bisphosphonates and calcitonin), anabolic agents (recombinant parathyroid human hormone), or anti-RANKL monoclonal antibody (denosumab). However, the clinical efficacy of these agents is still inconclusive (reviewed in [37,40]).

6. Pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy

The underlying pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy is still not completely understood. Two main theories to explain the pathogenesis of the condition have been described in the literature: the neurovascular theory, and the neurotraumatic theory. Michael E. Edmonds, in his study, observed that the peripheral neuropathy was frequently accompanied by hyperaemia, which could result in osteopenia and, consequently, bone fractures caused by even minor trauma (neurovascular theory) [31]. Other authors associated the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy with repetitive trauma acting on a foot with sensory neuropathy (neurotraumatic theory) [41]. It seems that the interaction of certain factors, such as presence of diabetes, peripheral neuropathy (both sensory and motor) and metabolic abnormalities affecting bone (osteopenia), are key factors in the pathogenesis of the disease. A reduction in BMD is often reported in the affected foot compared to the contralateral foot [42-45]. How immobilization and off-loading therapy affects BMD is still inconclusive. According to some authors, BMD falls over time in the affected foot as casting therapy is introduced [45], while other authors have shown no long-term effects of this therapy on further BMD loss [46,47].

At the beginning of the twenty-first century, inflammation was identified as a key component in the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy. The "inflammatory theory" stresses the pathogenic importance of local ongoing inflammation and the increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and other factors, in the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy [48,49]. The proinflammatory state is linked to the bone turnover observed in Charcot neuroarthropathy. However, it is still unclear whether it is the cause or the consequence of the ongoing bone destruction process occurring in the affected foot. The venous-arterial flux of IL-6 is increased in the affected foot of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy compared to the healthy foot, suggesting that IL-6 is locally produced in the affected foot [50]. Serum levels of TNF-a, IL-6 or C-reactive protein are higher in patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy prior to treatment, with a decrease observed following casting therapy, a standard treatment method for Charcot neuroarthropathy [51]. Serum TNF- α or IL-6 have also been reported to be positively correlated with C-terminal telopeptide, a bone turnover marker, and serum osteoprotegerin (OPG) levels at presentation but not after casting therapy [51]. Other studies suggest that activation of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-17 and TNF- α in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy occurs after they begin

offloading therapy, representing a key step in bone repair and remodelling during recovery [52,53].

6.1. Role of the OPG-RANKL-RANK axis in bone resorption and formation

The physiological balance between pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines plays an important role in the course of Charcot neuroarthropathy. The release of proinflammatory cytokines leads to increased activity of the metabolic pathway consisting of OPG, receptor activator of nuclear factor kB (RANK) and its ligand, receptor activator of nuclear factor **kB** ligand (RANKL). RANKL is the main factor in the bone matrix responsible for the differentiation of osteoclast precursor cells and their activation to mature osteoclasts [54]. It exists as a membrane-bound protein produced by osteoblast lineage cells and activated T cells, as well as a soluble protein which can be detected in blood serum [55]. As there are at least three isoforms of RANKL mRNA, it is plausible that different forms of RANKL are produced from different mRNAs [56]. RANKL exerts its biological activity through the RANK receptor, which is present on the surface of preosteoclasts, mature osteoclasts and several other cell types. Binding of RANKL to RANK initiates a signal cascade within the cell, which involves the recruitment of TRAF factors (TRAF2, TRAF5 and TRAF6) to the cytoplasmic domain of RANK and results in the activation of nuclear transcription factors NF- κ B and JNK. This process leads to the differentiation of preosteoclasts into mature osteoclasts. Importantly, the inhibition of osteoclast differentiation is counterbalanced by the action of OPG, which serves as the soluble decoy receptor for RANKL, preventing its association with RANK [57,58].

Imbalance of the OPG/RANKL/RANK axis may lead to uncontrolled bone loss and various pathological conditions [59], as observed in many diseases such as Paget's disease [60], rheumatoid arthritis [61], osteopenia [62] and Charcot neuroarthropathy [63]. Ndip and colleagues found that serum RANKL and OPG levels, as well as the RANKL/OPG ratio, are increased in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy when compared to patients with diabetes or a healthy control group [63]. The local inflammation and related increased expression of the RANKL gene are associated with fractures and bone destruction in Charcot neuroarthropathy [64]. In addition, there is a correlation between increased bone resorption and vascular calcification that may contribute to the development of the disease [64–66].

The interplay between RANKL and OPG proteins controls bone resorption and formation. However, other factors, such as advanced glycation end products (AGE), reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cytokines, influence this process and may contribute to the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy (as reviewed in [67]). Hyperglycaemia stimulates the formation of AGEs, and interplay between impaired AGE defence, bone turnover and bone quality has been observed in Charcot neuroarthropathy [68]. Patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy display reduced levels of circulating soluble receptor of advanced glycation end products (sRAGE), increased serum osteocalcin, a marker of bone formation, and reduced calcaneus bone stiffness. It is hypothesised that low levels of sRAGE fail to protect against the production of AGE due to hyperglycaemia. Excess AGE may accumulate in tissues such as tendons, bone or cartilage, where it may increase the production of RAGE, which may in turn enhance RANKL activation leading to increased osteoclastogenesis, predisposing the bone to fracture. Bone resorption by osteoclasts is also stimulated by either TNF- α or RANKL, which upregulate the expression of RANK and promote osteoclast differentiation in vitro [69].

6.2. Association of OPG and RANKL variants with Charcot neuroarthropathy

Different studies suggest the involvement of genetic factors associated with OPG and RANKL variants in the development of various skeletal system diseases with underlying osteopenia [70–72]. There are reports of an association of Charcot neuroarthropathy with variants of OPG, RANKL and RANK genes.

The OPG gene variants 245T>G, 1181G>C and 1217C>T have been reported to be associated with Charcot neuroarthropathy, but the allele frequencies at specified loci differ between studies. Pitocco and colleagues found a positive association with G alleles for both the OPG 1181G>C and 245T>G variants in Italian patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy when compared to patients with diabetic neuropathy and healthy controls [73]. Subjects with diabetes and neuropathy with CC/ TT genotypes had an approximately six-fold lower risk of Charcot neuroarthropathy. In a Polish population, for both 1217C>T and 245T>G OPG gene variants, a positive correlation between TT genotypes and Charcot neuroarthropathy was found [74]. The TT genotype at these residues increased the risk of developing Charcot neuroarthropathy by more than three times. Polish patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy had the CC genotype with the OPG 1181C>G variant almost two times more often than patients with diabetic neuropathy or diabetes. Studies involving larger groups of patients seem to confirm these observations. In particular, a positive correlation between the 245T>G OPG gene variant and TT genotype with the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy was observed [75]. It appears that the 1181G>C variant of the OPG gene, which might be a potential marker of Charcot neuroarthropathy, is a marker specific to this complication alone.

The allele and genotype frequencies of RANKL 290C>T, 643C>T and 693G>C variants also differ between patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy, neuropathy and diabetes [74]. The T alleles in RANKL 290C>T and 643C>T and the C allele in 693G>C have been found to occur more frequently in patients with neuropathy and Charcot neuroarthropathy. This was correlated with an increased frequency of the corresponding homozygotes in groups with neuropathy and Charcot neuroarthropathy (TT for 290C>T and 643C>T, and CC for 693G>C), and these genotype frequencies differed significantly from those observed in the diabetes group. No significant changes in genotype and allele frequencies were observed between groups for two variants of the RANK gene (421C>T and 575C>T) [74].

An association between OPG 245T>G and OPG 1217C>T, as well as between RANKL 290C>T and 693G>C variants, was found in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy, and the linkage disequilibrium was the highest between these variants [74]. Based on similarities in their gene variant profiles, the analysed group of patients was divided into three clusters that differ in regard to the proportion of cases with diabetes, neuropathy and Charcot neuroarthropathy: cluster 1 contained mostly patients with diabetes, cluster 2 contained similar proportions of patients with neuropathy and Charcot neuroarthropathy, and cluster 3 consisted of about 50% of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy [74].

6.3. Serum OPG and RANKL levels in Charcot neuroarthropathy

Serum levels of the RANKL and OPG proteins are increased in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy [63,74] and neuropathy [74] and the RANKL/OPG ratio is higher in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy [46,63,74] than in patients with diabetes or healthy controls. Jansen and colleagues observed that the RANKL/OPG ratio was about three-fold higher in the Charcot group when compared to patients with diabetes without this condition and after few years of standard treatment. As the acute Charcot neuroarthropathy settled, the RANKL/OPG ratio decreased by approximately seven times when compared to the baseline ratio [46]. These authors suggested that the RANKL/OPG ratio is only elevated in the acute phase of Charcot neuroarthropathy. However, a more detailed study on a larger group of patients by Bruhn-Olszewska and colleagues revealed that the RANKL/OPG serum ratio is much higher in patients with neuropathy than patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy [74]. These authors suggested that an increased level of RANKL is specific for neuropathy, and is probably the key factor involved in bone loss. Interestingly, studies performed by two independent groups demonstrated that the OPG level is higher in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy when compared to patients with diabetes, and postulated the hypothesis that OPG production is stimulated in response to elevated levels of RANKL, likely to counterbalance its effect on bone loss [63,74]. Increased serum levels of RANKL in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy have also been demonstrated to promote osteogenic differentiation and the mineralisation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) in vitro [63]. These studies support the hypothesis that RANKL is not only involved in osteolysis, but also in the vascular calcification associated with Charcot neuroarthropathy.

Despite the associations between the studied genetic variants, the available data indicate that the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy is multifactorial. Petrova and colleagues have recently shown that osteoclasts from subjects with Charcot neuroarthropathy are characterised by an increased reaction to RANKL when compared to osteoclasts obtained from patients with diabetes (but not Charcot neuroarthropathy) and healthy controls [76]. RANKL-mediated osteoclastic resorption in vitro is modulated by TNF- α [69,77]. Expression of this proinflammatory cytokine on monocytes of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy was found to be increased when compared to patients with diabetes who did not develop this complication [78]. The same authors also observed that serum concentrations of TNF- α and IL-6 were significantly higher in people with Charcot neuroarthropathy than in people with and without diabetes. On follow up, there

pathogenesis.			
Factor or process		Characteristics and possible role in the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy	Reference
Genetic factors	RANKL/OPG variation	 Association of OPG 245T>G, 1181G>C and 1217C>T variants with Charcot neuroarthropathy Association of RANKL 290C>T, 643C>T and 693G>C variants with Charcot 	[73–757,463,74]
		 neuroarthropathy Increased serum RANKL and OPG levels in both patients with diabetic neuropa- thy and Charcot neuroarthropathy 	
		Bone loss	
Monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation	Microparticles	Vascular calcification	[81]
		Increased level of microparticles from monocytes of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy	
		■ High content of inflammatory cytokines, i.e. G-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-1-ra, IL-2 and IL-16	
	miRNAs	Increased osteoclast differentiation in vitro	[83]
		Differential expression of circulating miRNAs in patients with Charcot neu- roarthropathy: miR19a-3p, miR101-3p, miR144-3p, miR16-2-3p, miR16-5p, miR362-3p, miR30e-5p	
	Gene methylation	Differentiation of monocytes to osteoclasts	[79]
		■ Differential methylation of genes in cir- culating monocytes of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy: e.g. HMGA1 and MAPK11	
		 Differential gene expression in circulat- ing monocytes due to methylation changes, e.g. PPP2R5D, POC1A and FOSB 	
		 Migration during monocyte-to-osteo- clast differentiation 	
		Regulation of inflammatory pathways	

Table 1 – Summary of the role of genetic factors and monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation in Charcot neuroarthropathy pathogenesis.

was a significant reduction in the concentration of these cytokines at resolution, suggesting that these markers may be useful in the assessment of disease activity [51].

6.4. Monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation in acute Charcot neuroarthropathy

The osteoclasts responsible for bone resorption differentiate from monocytes. Several studies have demonstrated that gene methylation in monocytes, monocyte-derived microparticles or microRNAs (miRNAs) can affect monocyte-toosteoclast differentiation, and may therefore play an important role in the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Recent whole-methylome studies have identified over a hundred genes that are differentially methylated in circulating monocytes isolated from patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy compared to patients with diabetes [79]. In patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy, most of these genes were found to be hypermethylated. More importantly, about 15% of the differentially methylated genes include genes that could be directly or indirectly involved in the differentiation of monocytes into osteoclasts, with HMGA1 and MAPK11 genes as the strongest candidates. The same study also demonstrated an association between DNA methylation and gene expression in patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy. The PPP2R5D gene was both hypermethylated and overexpressed in monocytes from patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy. Several differentially methylated genes were found to have an effect on other expression-associated genes including POC1A and FOSB genes, which are known to be involved in bone-related disorders and in bone formation.

Microparticles (also known as microvesicles) are small, membrane vesicles that are released from cells under different physiological and pathological conditions. Different patterns of circulating microparticles have been detected in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and in patients with diabetic complications [80]. In patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy, microparticles from monocytes, but not platelets, are present at higher amounts when compared to patients with diabetic neuropathy or healthy controls [81]. Increased levels of cytokines such as G-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-1-ra, IL-2 and IL-16 were detected only in microparticles from patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy, but levels in the serum were not elevated. Those cytokines are linked to pathways that are involved in osteoclast formation. Moreover, the incubation of monocytes from healthy controls with microparticles derived from patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy increased their differentiation into osteoclasts in vitro [81].

Circulating miRNAs may also play a role in the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy, presumably by the regulation of monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation. MiRNAs are small, non-coding RNAs present in cells that act as posttranscriptional regulators of gene expression. MiRNAs are also detected in serum and extracellular fluids, which are termed circulating miRNAs and extracellular miRNAs, respectively [82]. Comparison of the serum levels of mature human miRNAs revealed differential expression of several miRNAs between patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy, patients with diabetes and neuropathy and those without neuropathy [83]. Deregulation of seven miRNAs (miR19a-3p, miR101-3p, miR144-3p, miR16-2-3p, miR16-5p, miR362-3p and miR30e-5p) was found to be strongly correlated with Charcot neuroarthropathy. The authors also identified that a number of circulating miRNAs that were differentially expressed between Charcot neuroarthropathy and neuropathy groups could be involved in the differentiation of monocytes into osteoclasts.

7. Concluding remarks

Effective prevention of the serious consequences of diabetes is still a challenge. Identifying reliable and repeatable genetic markers of Charcot neuroarthropathy would help to identify patients who are at higher risk of developing this condition soon after they are diagnosed with diabetes. Genetic factors play an important role in the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Recent observations suggest the involvement of OPG and RANKL gene variants in the development of osteopenia and vascular calcification that are characteristic of Charcot neuroarthropathy (Table 1). Multiple variant sites within these two genes could potentially be used as predictive markers of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Along with genetic markers, profiles of inflammatory cytokines in circulating microparticles or serum levels of specific miRNAs could be a simple and convenient screening tool to diagnose or predict the risk of Charcot neuroarthropathy development; however, studies on larger cohorts are necessary to confirm their usefulness as a diagnostic tool. As monocytes appear to be directly involved in the pathogenesis of Charcot neuroarthropathy (Table 1), further studies of the monocyte-toosteoclast differentiation process may lead to a better understanding and perhaps early prevention of this condition.

Funding

This work was supported by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Poland (grant number N N402 309936).

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, Huang Y, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Ohlrogge AW, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2018;138:271–81. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023</u>.
- [2] Davies M, Brophy S, Williams R, Taylor A. The prevalence, severity, and impact of painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2006;29:1518–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc05-2228</u>.
- [3] Tamer A, Yildiz S, Yildiz N, Kanat M, Gunduz H, Tahtaci M, et al. The prevalence of neuropathy and relationship with risk factors in diabetic patients: a single-center experience. Med Princ Pract 2006;15:190–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/</u> 000092180.
- [4] Makrilakis K. Charcot Foot. In: Eleftheriadou I, Kokkinos A, Liatis S, Makrilakis K, Tentolouris N, Tentolouris A, editors. Atlas Diabet. Foot. John Wiley & Sons Ltd.; 2019. p. 147–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119255314</u>.
- [5] Hochlenert D, Engels G, Morbach S, Schliwa S, Game FL. In: Diabetic Foot Syndrome: From Entity to Therapy. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG; 2018. p. 335–51.
- [6] Volmer-Thole M, Lobmann R. Neuropathy and Diabetic Foot Syndrome. Int J Mol Sci 2016;17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms17060917</u>.
- [7] Rogers LC, Frykberg RG, Armstrong DG, Boulton AJM, Edmonds M, Van GH, et al. The Charcot foot in diabetes.

Diabetes Care 2011;34:2123-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-0844</u>.

- [8] Gouveri E, Papanas N. Charcot osteoarthropathy in diabetes: A brief review with an emphasis on clinical practice. World J Diabetes 2011;2:59–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v2.i5.59</u>.
- [9] De Kelly M. arthritide symptomatica of William Musgrave (1657–1721): His description of neuropathic arthritis. Bull Hist Med 1963;37:372–7.
- [10] Mitchell JK. On a new practice in acute and chronic rheumatism. Am J Med Sci 1831;8:55–63.
- [11] Charcot J-M. Sur quelques arthropathies qui paraissent dépendre d'une lésion du cerveau ou de la moelle épinière. Arch. Physiol. Norm. Pathol., V. Masson 1868:161–78.
- [12] Jordan WR. Neuritic Manifestations in Diabetes Mellitus. Arch Intern Med 1936;57:307–66.
- [13] Armstrong DG, Peters EJG. Charcot's arthropathy of the foot. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc 2002;92:390–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.7547/ 87507315-92-7-390</u>.
- [14] Frykberg RG, Belczyk R. Epidemiology of the Charcot foot. Clin Podiatr Med Surg 2008;25:17–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cpm.2007.10.001</u>.
- [15] Salini D, Harish K, Minnie P, Sundaram KR, Arun B, Sandya CJ, et al. Prevalence of Charcot Arthropathy in Type 2 Diabetes Patients Aged over 50 Years with Severe Peripheral Neuropathy: A Retrospective Study in a Tertiary Care South Indian Hospital. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 2018;22:107–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ijem.IJEM_257_17</u>.
- [16] Clohisy DR, Thompson RCJ. Fractures associated with neuropathic arthropathy in adults who have juvenile-onset diabetes. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1988;70:1192–200.
- [17] Sohn M-W, Lee TA, Stuck RM, Frykberg RG, Budiman-Mak E. Mortality risk of Charcot arthropathy compared with that of diabetic foot ulcer and diabetes alone. Diabetes Care 2009;32:816–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-1695</u>.
- [18] Rajbhandari SM, Jenkins RC, Davies C, Tesfaye S. Charcot neuroarthropathy in diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 2002;45:1085–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-002-0885-7</u>.
- [19] Petrova NL, Foster AVM, Edmonds ME. Difference in presentation of Charcot osteoarthropathy in type 1 compared with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;27:1235–6. <u>https:// doi.org/10.2337/diacare.27.5.1235-a</u>.
- [20] Nobrega MBde M, Aras R, Netto EM, Couto RD, Marinho AMda N, da Silva JL, et al. Risk factors for Charcot foot. Arch Endocrinol Metab 2015;59:226–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/</u> 2359-399700000042.
- [21] Stuck RM, Sohn M-W, Budiman-Mak E, Lee TA, Weiss KB. Charcot arthropathy risk elevation in the obese diabetic population. Am J Med 2008;121:1008–14. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.amimed.2008.06.038</u>.
- [22] Pinzur M, Freeland R, Juknelis D. The association between body mass index and foot disorders in diabetic patients. Foot Ankle Int 2005;26:375–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/</u> 107110070502600506.
- [23] Ross AJ, Mendicino RW, Catanzariti AR. Role of body mass index in acute charcot neuroarthropathy. J Foot Ankle Surg 2013;52:6–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jfas.2012.10.003</u>.
- [24] Greenhagen RM, Wukich DK, Jung RH, Vardaxis V, Yoho RM. Peripheral and central bone mineral density in Charcot's neuroarthropathy compared in diabetic and nondiabetic populations. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc 2012;102:213–22. <u>https:// doi.org/10.7547/1020213</u>.
- [25] Valabhji J. Foot problems in patients with diabetes and chronic kidney disease. J Ren Care 2012;38(Suppl 1):99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-6686.2012.00284.x.</u>
- [26] Anthony ML, Cravey KS, Atway SA. Development of Charcot Neuroarthropathy in Diabetic Patients who Received Kidney or Kidney-Pancreas Transplants. J Foot Ankle Surg 2019;58:475–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jfas.2018.09.022</u>.

- [27] Matricali GA, Bammens B, Kuypers D, Flour M, Mathieu C. High rate of Charcot foot attacks early after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplantation 2007;83:245–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.</u> <u>tp.0000244730.95416.c6</u>.
- [28] Chantelau E, Poll LW. Evaluation of the diabetic charcot foot by MR imaging or plain radiography-an observational study. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2006;114:428–31. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1055/s-2006-924229</u>.
- [29] Becker W. Imaging osteomyelitis and the diabetic foot. Q J Nucl Med 1999;43:9–20.
- [30] Morrison WB, Shortt CP, Ting AYI. Imaging of the Charcot foot. In: Frykberg RG, editor. The Diabetic Charcot Foot: Principles and Management. Brooklandville, MD: Data Trace Publishing Company; 2010. p. 65–84.
- [31] Pinzur MS. Benchmark analysis of diabetic patients with neuropathic (Charcot) foot deformity. Foot Ankle Int 1999;20:564–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107110079902000905</u>.
- [32] Vopat ML, Nentwig MJ, Chong ACM, Agan JL, Shields NN, Yang S-Y. Initial Diagnosis and Management for Acute Charcot Neuroarthropathy. Kansas J Med 2018;11:114–9.
- [33] Nube VL, McGill M, Molyneaux L, Yue DK. From acute to chronic: monitoring the progress of Charcot's arthropathy. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc 2002;92:384–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.7547/ 87507315-92-7-384</u>.
- [34] Hadavand F, Amouzegar A, Amid H. Pro-Calcitonin, Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate and C - reactive Protein in Predicting Diabetic Foot Ulcer Characteristics; a Cross Sectional Study. Arch Acad Emerg Med 2019;7:37.
- [35] Frykberg RG, Eneroth M. Principles of conservative management. In: Frykberg RG, editor. The Diabetic Charcot Foot: Principles and Management. Brooklandville, MD: Data Trace Publishing Company; 2010. p. 93–116.
- [36] Armstrong DG, Todd WF, Lavery LA, Harkless LB, Bushman TR. The natural history of acute Charcot's arthropathy in a diabetic foot specialty clinic. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc 1997;87:272–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.7547/87507315-87-6-272</u>.
- [37] Petrova NL, Edmonds ME. Conservative and Pharmacologic Treatments for the Diabetic Charcot Foot. Clin Podiatr Med Surg 2017;34:15–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpm.2016.07.003</u>.
- [38] Pinzur MS, Schiff AP. Deformity and Clinical Outcomes Following Operative Correction of Charcot Foot: A New Classification With Implications for Treatment. Foot Ankle Int 2018;39:265–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1071100717742371</u>.
- [39] Harkin EA, Schneider AM, Murphy M, Schiff AP, Pinzur MS. Deformity and Clinical Outcomes Following Operative Correction of Charcot Ankle. Foot Ankle Int 2019;40:145–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1071100718805076</u>.
- [40] Pitocco D, Scavone G, Di Leo M, Vitiello R, Rizzi A, Tartaglione L, et al. Charcot Neuroarthropathy: From the Laboratory to the Bedside. Curr Diabetes Rev 2019;16:62–72. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2174/1573399815666190502121945</u>.
- [41] Chantelau E, Onvlee GJ. Charcot foot in diabetes: farewell to the neurotrophic theory. Horm Metab Res 2006;38:361–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-944525</u>.
- [42] Petrova NL, Foster AVM, Edmonds ME. Calcaneal bone mineral density in patients with Charcot neuropathic osteoarthropathy: differences between Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 2005;22:756–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01510.x</u>.
- [43] Sinacore DR, Hastings MK, Bohnert KL, Fielder FA, Villareal DT, Blair 3rd VP, et al. Inflammatory osteolysis in diabetic neuropathic (charcot) arthropathies of the foot. Phys Ther 2008;88:1399–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20080025</u>.
- [44] Christensen TM, Bulow J, Simonsen L, Holstein PE, Svendsen OL. Bone mineral density in diabetes mellitus patients with and without a Charcot foot. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging

2010;30:130-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-</u>097X.2009.00915.x.

- [45] Petrova NL, Edmonds ME. A prospective study of calcaneal bone mineral density in acute Charcot osteoarthropathy. Diabetes Care 2010;33:2254–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-0636</u>.
- [46] Jansen RB, Christensen TM, Bulow J, Rordam L, Holstein PE, Jorgensen NR, et al. Bone mineral density and markers of bone turnover and inflammation in diabetes patients with or without a Charcot foot: An 8.5-year prospective case-control study. J Diabetes Complications 2018;32:164–70. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jdjacomp.2017.11.004</u>.
- [47] Pakarinen T-K, Laine H-J, Maenpaa H, Kahonen M, Mattila P, Lahtela J. Effect of immobilization, off-loading and zoledronic acid on bone mineral density in patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy: a prospective randomized trial. Foot Ankle Surg 2013;19:121–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.fas.2012.12.007</u>.
- [48] Jeffcoate WJ, Game F, Cavanagh PR. The role of proinflammatory cytokines in the cause of neuropathic osteoarthropathy (acute Charcot foot) in diabetes. Lancet (London, England) 2005;366:2058–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(05)67029-8</u>.
- [49] Baumhauer JF, O'Keefe RJ, Schon LC, Pinzur MS. Cytokineinduced osteoclastic bone resorption in charcot arthropathy: an immunohistochemical study. Foot Ankle Int 2006;27:797–800. https://doi.org/10.1177/107110070602701007.
- [50] Jansen RB, Christensen TM, Bulow J, Rordam L, Jorgensen NR, Svendsen OL. Markers of Local Inflammation and Bone Resorption in the Acute Diabetic Charcot Foot. J Diabetes Res 2018;2018:5647981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5647981</u>.
- [51] Petrova NL, Dew TK, Musto RL, Sherwood RA, Bates M, Moniz CF, et al. Inflammatory and bone turnover markers in a crosssectional and prospective study of acute Charcot osteoarthropathy. Diabet Med 2015;32:267–73. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1111/dme.12590</u>.
- [52] Folestad A, Alund M, Asteberg S, Fowelin J, Aurell Y, Gothlin J, et al. IL-17 cytokines in bone healing of diabetic Charcot arthropathy patients: a prospective 2 year follow-up study. J Foot Ankle Res 2015;8:39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-015-0096-3</u>.
- [53] Folestad A, Alund M, Asteberg S, Fowelin J, Aurell Y, Gothlin J, et al. Offloading treatment is linked to activation of proinflammatory cytokines and start of bone repair and remodeling in Charcot arthropathy patients. J Foot Ankle Res 2015;8:72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-015-0129-y</u>.
- [54] Khosla S. Minireview: the OPG/RANKL/RANK system. Endocrinology 2001;142:5050–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.142.12.8536</u>.
- [55] Kearns AE, Khosla S, Kostenuik PJ. Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand and osteoprotegerin regulation of bone remodeling in health and disease. Endocr Rev 2008;29:155–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2007-0014</u>.
- [56] Ikeda T, Kasai M, Utsuyama M, Hirokawa K. Determination of three isoforms of the receptor activator of nuclear factorkappaB ligand and their differential expression in bone and thymus. Endocrinology 2001;142:1419–26. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1210/endo.142.4.8070</u>.
- [57] Boyce BF, Xing L. Biology of RANK, RANKL, and osteoprotegerin. Arthritis Res Ther 2007;9(Suppl 1):S1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2165</u>.
- [58] Hadjidakis DJ, Androulakis II. Bone remodeling. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1092:385–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1196/ annals.1365.035</u>.
- [59] Mountzios G, Dimopoulos M-A, Bamias A, Papadopoulos G, Kastritis E, Syrigos K, et al. Abnormal bone remodeling process is due to an imbalance in the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand (RANKL)/osteoprotegerin (OPG)

axis in patients with solid tumors metastatic to the skeleton. Acta Oncol 2007;46:221–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> 02841860600635870.

- [60] Wuyts W, Van Wesenbeeck L, Morales-Piga A, Ralston S, Hocking L, Vanhoenacker F, et al. Evaluation of the role of RANK and OPG genes in Paget's disease of bone. Bone 2001;28:104–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s8756-3282(00)00411-7</u>.
- [61] Geusens PP, Landewe RBM, Garnero P, Chen D, Dunstan CR, Lems WF, et al. The ratio of circulating osteoprotegerin to RANKL in early rheumatoid arthritis predicts later joint destruction. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:1772–7. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.21896</u>.
- [62] Mizuno A, Amizuka N, Irie K, Murakami A, Fujise N, Kanno T, et al. Severe osteoporosis in mice lacking osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor/osteoprotegerin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;247:610–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/ bbrc.1998.8697</u>.
- [63] Ndip A, Williams A, Jude EB, Serracino-Inglott F, Richardson S, Smyth JV, et al. The RANKL/RANK/OPG signaling pathway mediates medial arterial calcification in diabetic Charcot neuroarthropathy. Diabetes 2011;60:2187–96. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2337/db10-1220</u>.
- [64] Petrova NL, Shanahan CM. Neuropathy and the vascularbone axis in diabetes: lessons from Charcot osteoarthropathy. Osteoporos Int 2014;25:1197–207. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00198-013-2511-6</u>.
- [65] Jeffcoate WJ. Theories concerning the pathogenesis of the acute charcot foot suggest future therapy. Curr Diab Rep 2005;5:430–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-005-0050-z</u>.
- [66] Ndip A, Wilkinson FL, Jude EB, Boulton AJM, Alexander MY. RANKL-OPG and RAGE modulation in vascular calcification and diabetes: novel targets for therapy. Diabetologia 2014;57:2251–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00125-014-3348-z</u>.
- [67] Zhao H-M, Diao J-Y, Liang X-J, Zhang F, Hao D-J. Pathogenesis and potential relative risk factors of diabetic neuropathic osteoarthropathy. J Orthop Surg Res 2017;12:142. <u>https://doi. org/10.1186/s13018-017-0634-8</u>.
- [68] Witzke KA, Vinik AI, Grant LM, Grant WP, Parson HK, Pittenger GL, et al. Loss of RAGE defense: a cause of Charcot neuroarthropathy?. Diabetes Care 2011;34:1617–21. <u>https:// doi.org/10.2337/dc10-2315</u>.
- [69] Luo G, Li F, Li X, Wang Z-G, Zhang B. TNFalpha and RANKL promote osteoclastogenesis by upregulating RANK via the NFkappaB pathway. Mol Med Rep 2018;17:6605–11. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2018.8698</u>.
- [70] Langdahl BL, Carstens M, Stenkjaer L, Eriksen EF. Polymorphisms in the osteoprotegerin gene are associated with osteoporotic fractures. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:1245–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.7.</u> <u>1245</u>.
- [71] Lee YH, Woo J-H, Choi SJ, Ji JD, Song GG. Associations between osteoprotegerin polymorphisms and bone mineral density: a meta-analysis. Mol Biol Rep 2010;37:227–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-009-9637-9</u>.
- [72] Roshandel D, Holliday KL, Pye SR, Boonen S, Borghs H, Vanderschueren D, et al. Genetic variation in the RANKL/ RANK/OPG signaling pathway is associated with bone turnover and bone mineral density in men. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:1830–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.78</u>.
- [73] Pitocco D, Zelano G, Gioffre G, Di Stasio E, Zaccardi F, Martini F, et al. Association between osteoprotegerin G1181C and T245G polymorphisms and diabetic charcot neuroarthropathy: a case-control study. Diabetes Care 2009;32:1694–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0243</u>.
- [74] Bruhn-Olszewska B, Korzon-Burakowska A, Wegrzyn G, Jakobkiewicz-Banecka J. Prevalence of polymorphisms in OPG, RANKL and RANK as potential markers for Charcot

arthropathy development. Sci Rep 2017;7:501. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1038/s41598-017-00563-4.

- [75] Korzon-Burakowska A, Jakobkiewicz-Banecka J, Fiedosiuk A, Petrova N, Koblik T, Gabig-Ciminska M, et al. Osteoprotegerin gene polymorphism in diabetic Charcot neuroarthropathy. Diabet Med 2012;29:771–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03442.x</u>.
- [76] Mabilleau G, Petrova NL, Edmonds ME, Sabokbar A. Increased osteoclastic activity in acute Charcot's osteoarthropathy: the role of receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand. Diabetologia 2008;51:1035–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-008-0992-1</u>.
- [77] Petrova NL, Petrov PK, Edmonds ME, Shanahan CM. Inhibition of TNF- α Reverses the Pathological Resorption Pit Profile of Osteoclasts from Patients with Acute Charcot Osteoarthropathy. J Diabetes Res 2015;2015:1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/917945</u>.
- [78] Uccioli L, Sinistro A, Almerighi C, Ciaprini C, Cavazza A, Giurato L, et al. Proinflammatory modulation of the surface and cytokine phenotype of monocytes in patients with acute Charcot foot. Diabetes Care 2010;33:350–5. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2337/dc09-1141</u>.
- [79] Pasquier J, Spurgeon M, Bradic M, Thomas B, Robay A, Chidiac O, et al. Whole-methylome analysis of circulating monocytes

in acute diabetic Charcot foot reveals differentially methylated genes involved in the formation of osteoclasts. Epigenomics 2019;11:281–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2018-0144</u>.

- [80] Wang Y, Chen L, Liu M. Microvesicles and diabetic complications–novel mediators, potential biomarkers and therapeutic targets. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2014;35:433–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2013.188</u>.
- [81] Pasquier J, Thomas B, Hoarau-Vechot J, Odeh T, Robay A, Chidiac O, et al. Circulating microparticles in acute diabetic Charcot foot exhibit a high content of inflammatory cytokines, and support monocyte-to-osteoclast cell induction. Sci Rep 2017;7:16450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-16365-7</u>.
- [82] Sohel MH. Extracellular/Circulating MicroRNAs: Release Mechanisms. Functions and Challenges. Achiev Life Sci 2016;10:175–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/I.ALS.2016.11.007</u>.
- [83] Pasquier J, Ramachandran V, Abu-Qaoud MR, Thomas B, Benurwar MJ, Chidiac O, et al. Differentially expressed circulating microRNAs in the development of acute diabetic Charcot foot. Epigenomics 2018;10:1267–78. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2217/epi-2018-0052</u>.